1988

Karen Stilling v. Richard L. Skankey, Dba Olympus Hills Mall, and Timothy F. Thomas, William F. Thomas, Stephen G. Petersen, and John M. Hammond; dba Thomas, Petersen, Hammond & Associates : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

This Court is authorized by Section 78-2-2(3)(i), Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), to hear this appeal from the District Court because the Utah Court of Appeals does not have original jurisdiction under Section 78-2a-3, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended).

RELATED OR PRIOR APPEALS

There have been no prior appeals in this action; however, this Court is considering the constitutionality of Section 78-12-25.5, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), on certification from the United States District Court for the District of Utah in *Horton, et al., v. Goldminer's Daughter, et al.*, and consolidated actions, in case number 870031.

NATURE OF PROCEEDING

This is an appeal from an Order of the District Court dismissing with prejudice the Crossclaim of Defendant Skankey against co-Defendants Thomas, Peterson and Hammond, d/b/a Thomas Peterson Hammond & Associates. The Order of Dismissal from which this appeal is taken contains, by its terms, a Rule 54 certification of finality.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. As applied by the District court in this case to Appellant's Crossclaim for indemnity, is Section 78-12-25.5, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), unconstitutional in that it precludes free access to the court in contravention of Article I, Section 11, of the Utah Constitution?
2. In view of the provisions of Section 78-27-41, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended 1986), did the trial court err in dismissing Appellant's Crossclaim?

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

Article I, Section 11, Constitution of Utah:

All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.

Section 78-27-41, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended 1986):

A person seeking recovery, or any defendant who is a party to the litigation, may join as parties any defendants who may have caused or contributed to the injury or damage for which recovery is sought, for the purpose of having determined their respective proportions of fault.

Section 78-12-25.5, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended):¹

No action to recover damages for any injury to property, real or personal, or for any injury to the person, or for bodily injury or wrongful death, arising out of the defective and unsafe condition of an improvement to real property, nor any action for damages sustained on account of such injury, shall be brought against any person performing or furnishing the design, planning, supervision of construction or construction of such improvement to real property more than seven years after the completion of such construction.

(1) "Person" shall mean an individual, corporation, partnership, or any other legal entity.

(2) Completion of construction for the purposes of this act shall mean the date of issuance of a certificate of substantial completion by the owner, architect, engineer or

¹This section was amended in 1988 with regard to matters not material to this appeal.

other agents, or the date of the owner's use or possession of the improvement on real property.

The limitation imposed by this provision shall not apply to any person in actual possession and control as owner, tenant or otherwise, of the improvement at the time the defective and unsafe condition of such improvement constitutes the proximate cause of the injury for which it is proposed to bring an action.

This provision shall not be construed as extending or limiting the periods otherwise prescribed by the laws of this state for the bringing of any action.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Respondents Thomas, Peterson and Hammond first moved the lower court to dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint on the basis of Section 78-12-25.5, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended). (R. at 58.) The Court granted that motion. (R. at 110.) Plaintiff has taken no appeal from the dismissal of her action against Respondents, which was certified as "final" pursuant to Rule 54 (R. at 193, *reproduced infra* at A-22 through A-24). Thereafter, Respondents filed a similar motion, seeking the dismissal of Appellant's Crossclaim for indemnity. (R. at 139.) That motion was also granted (R. at 189) and certified as final (R. at 190, *reproduced infra* at A-19 through A-21) by the District Court. Appellant appeals from that dismissal. (R. at 196.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Since the decision under review was pursuant to a Motion to Dismiss, the factual allegations of Appellant's Crossclaim are deemed true. From those allegations, together with matters as to which the parties have

agreed in various Memoranda filed with the lower court, the following facts emerge.

The Plaintiff, an elderly woman, alleges that she was injured on December 29, 1986, in the parking lot of the Olympus Hills Mall in Salt Lake County, Utah, when she "tripped and fell several feet over a retaining wall." (Complaint, R. at 2, at paragraph 5, *reproduced infra* at A-2 through A-6.) Approximately five weeks later, on February 7, 1987, Plaintiff filed suit against Defendant (now Appellant) Richard Skankey, alleging that the "retaining wall" was dangerous. (Complaint, R. at 2.) In November of 1987, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint, naming as additional parties defendant Respondents Thomas, Peterson, and Hammond. (Amended Complaint, R. at 30.)

Respondents Thomas, Peterson, and Hammond were the architects and engineers responsible for the planning and design of the construction of the Olympus Hills Mall parking lot at the location at which Plaintiff alleges she was injured. (Crossclaim, R. at 88, at paragraph 1.) Respondents contracted with Appellant to plan and design the parking lot in a safe manner and owed a duty to Appellant as well as the public generally to plan and design the parking lot in a safe manner. (Crossclaim, R. at 88, at paragraphs 3 and 4.) In her Amended Complaint, Plaintiff similarly alleges that her injuries were due to the dangerous condition caused by the negligent failure of Respondents Thomas, Peterson, and Hammond to design and plan the parking lot properly. (Amended Complaint, R. at 30, at paragraph 15.)

The construction of the parking lot in question was substantially completed in November of 1978.

Appellant filed an Answer to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, and crossclaimed against Respondents Thomas, Peterson, and Hammond, alleging that if the "retaining wall" was dangerous as Plaintiff alleges, then it was as a result of the design created by Respondents Thomas, Peterson, and Hammond. (Answer and Crossclaim, R. at 85, *reproduced infra* at A-13.) Appellant sought both indemnification and a determination pursuant to Section 78-27-41, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended 1986), of the proportionate share of fault attributable to Respondents Thomas, Peterson, and Hammond.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. By analogy to the reasoning of this Court's ruling in *Berry v. Beech Aircraft, infra*, the statute of repose contained in Section 78-12-25.5, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), is unconstitutional because it violates the "open courts" provisions of Article I, Section 11, of the Constitution of Utah. Moreover, as demonstrated by the facts of this case, application of the statute of repose is unfair because a landowner (such as Appellant) who contracts with an architect to design a safe premises, may incur liability to an injured person (such as the Plaintiff) but be precluded from recovery over against the negligent architect.

2. The dismissal of Appellant's Crossclaim against the allegedly negligent architects was also in contravention of Section 78-27-41, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended 1986). That section is a key part of the Tort Reform Act of 1986 and is necessary to effectuate the clearly manifest

purpose of rendering each defendant liable only for those injuries attributable to his, her, or its own fault.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE ARCHITECTS' STATUTE OF REPOSE VIOLATES ARTICLE I, SECTION 11, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH.

The parking lot now alleged to be dangerous was substantially completed in November of 1978. Accordingly, the seven-year statute of repose contained in Section 78-12-25.5, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), cut off any right of action by Appellant as of November, 1985. The Plaintiff does not allege, however, that she was injured until December 29, 1986. Accordingly, Appellant's cause of action for indemnification against the respondent architects for their breach of their agreement and duty to design the parking lot in a safe manner was barred by the statute of repose before it ever arose. Accordingly, Appellant had no opportunity to pursue his cause of action for indemnification.

In 1985, this Court addressed, in *Berry v. Beech Aircraft*, 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1985), the constitutionality of the very similar statute of repose contained in the Utah Product Liability Act. That statute of repose, like the statute of repose at issue in this action, had operated to bar a cause of action before that cause of action had even arisen. This Court held that the statute of repose was unconstitutional because it violated Article I, Section 11, of the Constitution of Utah. In so holding, this Court reasoned:

The clear language of the section guarantees access to the courts and a judicial procedure that is based on fairness and equality A plain reading of Section 11 also establishes that the framers of the constitution intended that an individual could not be arbitrarily deprived of effective remedies designed to protect basic individual rights. A constitutional guarantee of access to the courthouse was not intended by the founders to be an empty gesture; individuals are also entitled to a remedy by "due course of law" for injuries to "person, property, or reputation."

717 P.2d 675. This Court then went on to articulate and apply a two-prong test to determine whether the statute of repose was constitutional: Was an alternative remedy available and, if not, was abrogation of the cause of action by the statute of repose justified by "a clear social or economic evil"? (717 P.2d at 680).

In the present case, as in *Berry v. Beech Aircraft*, there was no meaningful alternative remedy available and, in the present case, just as in *Berry v. Beech Aircraft*, there is no "clear social or economic evil" requiring the statute of repose. While architectural standards may have changed somewhat since 1978, the Plaintiff, the defendant landowner, and the architect all face the same problem of proof. While those problems may be somewhat greater for the Plaintiff, who has the burden of proof, they are equal as between the defendant landowner and the architect. The cutting off of the landowner's right of indemnification against the allegedly negligent architect furthers no compelling social policy and eliminates no social or economic "evil"; it merely places the defendant landowner in an untenable and inequitable legal quagmire. Significantly, the Utah Legislature did not even attempt to articulate a perceived public necessity for the abolition of causes

of action against architects for injuries occurring more than seven years after the completion of their projects.

The precepts and logic set forth by this Court in its recent decision in *Berry v. Beech Aircraft, supra*, compel the same result with respect to the virtually identical statute of repose at issue in this action. The seven-year architects' statute of repose is unconstitutional under Article I, Section 11, of the Constitution of Utah. The lower court's dismissal of the Crossclaim for indemnification was, accordingly, erroneous.

POINT II. EVEN IF THE STATUTE OF REPOSE IS CONSTITUTIONAL, THE DISMISSAL OF THE CROSSCLAIM FOR INDEMNIFICATION WAS PRECLUDED IN THIS CASE BY SECTION 78-27-41.

The fundamental premise of the Tort Reform Act of 1986 is that each defendant is liable only for that proportion of damages attributable to the fault of that defendant.² The concept of comparative negligence has been retained in that a plaintiff may recover only from a defendant whose

²Section 78-27-40, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended 1986), provides:

[T]he maximum amount for which a defendant may be liable to any person seeking recovery is that percentage or proportion of the damages equivalent to the percentage or proportion of fault attributed to that defendant

percentage of fault exceeds that of the plaintiff³, but the damage award is no longer calculated by reducing the total damages by the plaintiff's percentage of fault.

Since a plaintiff's judgment against a defendant is now calculated as being that defendant's percentage of fault multiplied by the plaintiff's total damages, it is necessary that *all* of the fault from *all* possible sources be compared in one calculation at one time. The Legislature in drafting the Tort Reform Act of 1986 recognized that *all* fault contributing to an injury would have to be concurrently analyzed by the jury. Section 78-27-41, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended 1986), enables analysis of *all* fault contributing to a given injury by providing that:

A person seeking recovery, or any defendant who is a party to the litigation, may join as parties any defendants who may have caused or contributed to the injury or damage for which recovery is sought, for the purpose of having determined their respective proportions of fault.

The facts of the present claim illustrate the necessity of comparing *all* fault at one time as permitted by Section 78-27-41. Assuming *arguendo* that the "retaining wall" over which the Plaintiff tripped constitutes a dangerous condition, fault may lie with the architect (who designed it), the

³Section 78-27-38, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended 1986), provides:

The fault of a person seeking recovery shall not alone bar recovery by that person. He may recover from any defendant or group of defendants whose fault exceeds his own. However, no defendant is liable to any person seeking recovery for any amount in excess of the proportion of fault attributable to that defendant.

landowner (who might have made changes in warnings, railings, or lighting conditions) or the injured person (who might have failed to exercise due care for her own well being)⁴. Hypothetically, the finder of fact could determine that the architect was 80% responsible, the landowner 15% responsible, and the plaintiff 5% responsible. Assuming that the Plaintiff's injuries were determined to be \$10,000.00, the Plaintiff would recover \$8,000.00 from the architect and \$1,500.00 from the landowner.

However, the lower court has dismissed the architect from the lawsuit. Thus, the jury can compare only the fault of the plaintiff and the landowner. Unfortunately, when the jury compares merely the fault of the plaintiff and the landowner, but otherwise reaches the same conclusions, the jury will allocate 75% of the fault to the landowner and 25% to the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff would then recover \$7,500.00 from the landowner. Clearly, this is not the result intended by the Legislature since it results in a recovery by the injured person from the landowner of an amount far in excess of the landowner's actual proportionate share of the damages sustained. The unintended and anomalous result is the result of the trial court's dismissal of the respondent architects in direct violation of the mandate of Section 78-27-41.

It is important to note that the key provision, Section 78-27-41, is not phrased in terms of the original parties having the right to litigate the fault of non-parties, but clearly in terms of the original parties "joining" (*i.e.*, bringing in) additional persons as defendants. This is because of the obvious

⁴There is no allegation, in the present case, that the parking lot was not constructed in accordance with the architect's specifications.

impracticality of the original parties attempting to litigate vicariously the position of non-parties.⁵

By dismissing the respondent architects in violation of the mandate of Section 78-27-41, the trial court has wholly frustrated the fundamental precept of the Tort Reform Act of 1986 -- that each party should be responsible only for his, her, or its own fault.

CONCLUSION

The architects' statute of repose, when applied to the facts of this case, serves to preclude Appellant's cause of action for indemnification before that claim ever arose. Accordingly, particularly in light of this Court's decision with respect to the analogous statute of repose found in the Utah Product Liability Act, the architects' statute of repose is unconstitutional. The lower court erred in dismissing Appellant's Crossclaim for indemnification.

The fundamental precept of the Tort Reform Act of 1986 is that each defendant should be responsible only for that defendant's own fault. Accordingly, it is necessary that *all* of the fault causing a given injury be simultaneously analyzed by the jury. In order to allow the necessary concurrent analysis of all of the fault leading to an injury, the Legislature provided that any party might join as additional defendants any other person

⁵For example, if only the injured person and the landowner were to attempt to litigate the fault attributable to the architect, the injured person would be placed in the wholly anomalous position of having to argue that the architect was without fault (*i.e.*, that the condition about which she complains was not, in fact, dangerous) and the landowner would have to argue that the condition was, in fact, dangerous but was attributable to the architect. Both positions are irreconcilably inconsistent with the natural positions of the Plaintiff and the landowner in the litigation.

"who may have caused or contributed to the injury." The dismissal of Appellant's Crossclaim against the architects was directly contrary to Section 78-27-41 and is erroneous.

The Order of Dismissal entered by the lower court dismissing Appellant's claims against the respondent architects must be reversed and the Crossclaim reinstated.