1988

Karen Stilling v. Richard L. Skankey, Dba Olympus Hills Mall, and Timothy F. Thomas, William F. Thomas, Stephen G. Petersen, and John M. Hammond; dba Thomas, Petersen, Hammond & Associates : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondents assert that Utah Code Annotated Section 78-12-25.5 (1953 as amended), (hereinafter "Architects' Statute of Repose",) in no way violates Article I, Section 11, of the Utah Constitution. See Addendum. The Respondents further argue that the Architects' Statute of Repose can be distinguished from Utah Code Annotated Section 78-15-3 (1953 as amended), (hereinafter the Product Liability Statute of Repose), which was recently ruled unconstitutional by this Court's decision of Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 717 P. 2d 670 (Utah 1985) (hereinafter "Berry"). Additionally, the Respondents maintain that the Architects' Statute of Repose meets the constitutionality tests in Berry by: 1) providing an alternative remedy to an injured plaintiff; and 2) eliminating a clear and distinct social and economic evil.

The Respondents also argue that the Appellant is not entitled to indemnification from the Respondents for the reason that the Tort Reform Act only requires a party to be responsible for that proportion of the fault which can be fairly attributed to it. Since the Appellant is not responsible for the fault of any other party, it follows that the Appellant cannot sue the Respondents for indemnification.

INTRODUCTION

In addressing the potential liability of design professionals regarding structures for which they rendered design service, state

courts have refused to honor the historic, common-law contractual privity defense, but rather they have expanded the liability of design professionals and contractors to injured parties based on varying tort theories. However, such liability is not unlimited and is subject to specific restrictions under carefully defined circumstances.

The Utah State Legislature enacted Utah Code annotated Section 78-12-25.5 (1953 as amended) commonly known as the "Architect's Statute of Repose", which limits the time, following the formal completion of an improvement to real property, during which an allegedly aggrieved plaintiff may sue an architect or contractor with respect to an allegation that a defective design or faulty construction led to the plaintiff's injury. Additionally, the Utah Legislature has recently enacted the Tort Reform Act, Utah Code Annotated Section 78-27-38, et seq., (1953 as amended 1986) which limits any defendant's liability to that proportion of fault which can be attributed to that defendant.

This Court recently addressed the matter of the constitutionality of the Utah Product Liability Statute of Repose in Berry. In the Berry case, this Court declared that the Utah Product Liability Statute of Repose was unconstitutional for the reason that it violated, inter alia, Article I, Section 11, of the Utah State Constitution, Addendum, by denying the Plaintiffs a reasonable opportunity to bring a suit. In sum, this Court determined that the Utah Product Liability Statute of Repose did not provide the Plaintiffs, in Berry, with any alternative remedy against any party once the statutory period had run.

In the instant case, the Appellant argues, in Point 1 of his Brief, that the Berry ruling ought to extend beyond cases sounding in product liability theory to cases which are based, inter alia, upon an allegation of the negligent rendering of professional architectural design services. Appellant bases this argument on the grounds that there is otherwise no substitute remedy to which he, as Co-Defendant and property owner (but not as the injured party and plaintiff), may have access as he pursues the Respondents who, more than 10 years ago, rendered service to the Appellant. Appellant's Brief pp. 7-9. In response, the Respondents argue: 1) the facts of the Berry case are inapplicable to, and can be distinguished from, this case; 2) the Architects' Statute of Repose satisfies the two-pronged constitutionality test as enunciated in Berry; and 3) the Appellant is not legally entitled to pursue an indemnification claim against the Respondents.

Additionally, the Appellant argues, in Point II of his Brief, that even if the Architects' Statute of Repose is found constitutional, the dismissal of his Cross-Claim against the Respondents was precluded by operation of Utah Code Annotated Section 78-27-41 (1953 as amended 1986). Appellant's Brief, pp. 9-12. In reply, the Respondents maintain that the Utah Tort Reform Act does not permit the Appellant to sue the Respondents for indemnification because the Appellant is only liable for his own torts regarding injuries arising on his property due to unsafe conditions. Therefore, as a matter of law, the Appellant has no cause of action against the Respondents.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE.

THE ARCHITECTS' STATUTE OF REPOSE DOES NOT VIOLATE
ARTICLE 1, SECTION 11, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH.

A. THIS COURT HAS RULED THAT THE ARCHITECTS'
STATUTE OF REPOSE IS CONSTITUTIONAL

On several occasions, this Court has addressed the validity of the Architects' Statute of Repose and found it to be constitutional. This Court, in the case of Good v. Christensen, 527 P.2d 223 (Utah 1974), specifically held that the seven-year limitation imposed by Utah Code Annotated Section 78-12-25.5 (1953 as amended) was constitutional. In so ruling, this Court found that the Architects' Statute of Repose prohibits any action against an architect or builder, with respect to their work regarding any improvement to real property alleged to be defective or unsafe, which is filed outside the statutory period. This Court, in the case of Good v. Christensen, 527 P.2d 223 (Utah 1974), specifically held that the seven-year limitation imposed by Utah Code Annotated Section 78-12-25.5 (1953 as amended) was constitutional. In so ruling, this Court found that the Architects' Statute of Repose prohibits any action against an architect or builder, with respect to their work regarding any improvement to real property alleged to be defective or unsafe, which is filed outside the statutory period. In Good v. Christensen, this Court declared:

The exception in the statute makes inapplicable the seven-year limitation period against the original owner, and it allows others to sue him for torts, if any,

within the regular statutes of limitations after the cause arises. It prevents the OWNER, as well as all others, from suing the designer, planner, supervisor or contractor after seven years from completion of the project. (emphasis added).

Id. at 224-225

In the case of Jackson v. Layton City, 743 P.2d 1196 (Utah 1987), the Architects' Statute of Repose once again withstood a constitutional challenge. In Jackson, this Court reaffirmed the constitutionality of the Architects' Statute of Repose previously upheld in Good v. Christensen. The Jackson Court found that the Architects' Statute of Repose, unlike the Product Liability Statute of Repose, did not arbitrarily deprive a plaintiff of a cause of action.

In a concurring opinion in the Jackson case, Justice Howe clearly set out the Court's intention regarding any challenge to the constitutionality of the Architects' Statute of Repose when he observed:

A cause of action for personal injury generally accrues when the accident occurs, and the four-year statute of limitations begins to run at that time on any action against the owner.

In contrast, when an action for personal injuries is brought by a third person against a designer, planner, or builder of an improvement, the four-year statute of limitations also commences to run on the date of the accident unless seven years have expired since the completion of the construction of the improvement. In that event, Section 78-12-25.5 provides that the third person has no cause of action at all against the designer, planner, or builder. However, if any part of the seven-year period remains at the time the accident occurs, the injured third person has the remainder of the seven-year period, but not to exceed four years, to bring his action for personal injuries. In other words, the seven-year statute provides the outer limit, but within that time frame, the four-year statute operates. O'Conner v. Altus, 67 N.J. 106, 335 A. 2d 545 (1975); Annot. 93 A.L. r 3d 1242, 1268 (1979) (emphasis added).

Id. at 1199.

For the reason that this Court has repeatedly declared that the Architects' Statute of Respose is constitutional, the Appellant is not entitled to pursue the Respondents merely because the Plaintiff has a surviving cause of action against the Appellant. As this Court declared in Good v. Christensen, no party may sue the architect once the statutory period has expired, no matter their position or description.

In the present case, the facts clearly demonstrate that the Appellant did not file his Cross-Complaint until nine years after the Date of Substantial Completion of the "addition/remodeling" project at the Olympus Hills Mall. See Addendum. By statute, the Appellant had only seven years, after the Date of Substantial Completion of the Olympus Hills Mall, to file an action against the Respondents based upon any alleged defective design; he failed to do so. Under well-established Utah law, the time during which the Respondents were amenable to any action, based upon any alleged defects in their design, began on November 21, 1978, and ended at midnight on November 20, 1985. Consequently, the Appellant is nearly two years too late in filing his Cross-Claim against the Respondents.

Appellant's arguments are tantamount to asking this Court to overrule its decisions in Good v. Christensen and Jackson v. Layton City. Since there are no compelling legal or factual reasons to overrule this Court's well-established precedents, this Court should dismiss Appellant's Appeal.

B. THE RULING IN BERRY IS INAPPLICABLE IN THIS CASE.

The Appellant urges this Court to extend its ruling in Berry to this case by arguing, inter alia, that the Open Courts provision of

the Utah State Constitution must overcome the effect and advisability of Utah's Architects' Statute of Repose - the same argument advanced by the Plaintiff in Jackson.

However, the Berry case is distinguishable from the present case and therefore irrelevant to the matter at hand. A careful reading and analysis of Berry clearly establishes that the operant facts of Berry are in no way analogous to the facts of this matter. The Berry case involved a product liability claim against the Defendant after one of the Defendant's aircraft disintegrated in flight, killing several people. The Product Liability Statute of Repose did not provide the Plaintiffs, in Berry, with an alternative remedy if the filing deadline was missed. Unlike the provisions of the Architects' Statute of Repose, the Product Liability Statute of Repose precluded any action from being filed against any person or party once the statutory period of repose had expired. Therefore, this Court declared, the "Open Courts" provisions of the Utah Constitution had been violated by the statute's prohibitions against the filing of any action once the statutory limitation period had passed.

If this Court had intended to extend its ruling in Berry to cases other than those sounding in products liability theory, it could have expressly declared its intention to do so in the Berry case. No language in Berry, either in the ruling or in dicta, suggests that this Court intended to hold, or even suggest, that the statutes of limitations, as the same apply to architects, are unconstitutional. In fact, this Court made it clear that the Berry decision was strictly limited Utah Code Annotated Sections 78-15-1, et seq. ("Utah Product

Liability Act"), and was not intended to invalidate all statutes of repose, by declaring:

In sum, Section 11 does not recede before every legislative enactment, but neither may it be applied in a mechanical fashion to strike every statute with which there may be a conflict. To hold every statute of repose unconstitutional without regard to the legislative purpose could result in a legislative inability to cope with widespread social or economic evils (emphasis added).

Id., at 680.

In Berry, this Court observed, in relevant and significant dicta, that the Architects' Statute of Repose was constitutional in application if only those persons who rendered professional design services, or who performed construction, were exempt from a plaintiff's suit once the statutory period had run. Citing its earlier decision in Good v. Christensen, the Berry Court stated:

Good v. Christensen, Utah, 527 P. 2d 223 (1974), sustained the constitutionality of a seven year statute of repose intended to protect architects and builders. The court observed that a person injured by a defect in a building would still have a remedy against an owner of the building and perhaps others. (emphasis added).

Id. at 683.

This Court has not extended the "Open Courts" constitutionality test in Berry to any case which did not involve an allegation sounding in products liability law, even when the opportunity to do so arose in a subsequent case. In fact, in Berry, this Court specifically addressed the question of whether the unconstitutionality of the Product Liability Statute of Repose could be applied to other statutes of repose. After reviewing a wide array of cases, in which statutes of repose involving liability, medical malpractice and claims arising out

of the services of architects and builders were discussed, this Court clearly declared that, in Utah, products liability cases were the only sort of claim under which they would declare a statute of repose unconstitutional as violative of the "Open Courts" provisions of the Utah State Constitution. Id. at 678-680.

In the Jackson case, which was subsequent to Berry, this Court was presented with an opportunity to extend the constitutional test of Berry to Architects' Statute of Repose. In Jackson, the Plaintiff had been injured in an accident sustained on Layton City's sleigh riding and tubing hill. In upholding the District Court's dismissal of the Plaintiff's Complaint, this Court declared that the seven-year limitation imposed by the Architects' Statute of Repose was enforceable as it applied to the Defendant municipality. The Jackson Court had every opportunity to apply the Berry ruling to the Jackson facts: there was a grievously injured plaintiff, an Owner who designed and performed the improvements and was still in possession of the property at the time of the injury, a "deep pocket", and the possible denial of a remedy to the Plaintiff if the dismissal of the case was upheld.

However, in spite of that legally and emotionally charged atmosphere, this Court refused to declare the Architects' Statute of Repose unconstitutional. In fact, this Court specifically addressed the applicability of the Berry ruling to the facts in Jackson, and found the Architects' Statute of Respose constitutional. In so doing, this Court rejected the Plaintiff's claim that Architects' Statute of Repose was unconstitutional because it had the effect of barring an action before the events giving rise to the cause of action actually occurred (exactly the argument raised by the Plaintiffs in Berry).

In refusing to find the Architects' Statute of Repose unconstitutional, this Court observed that the Plaintiffs would have had an effective remedy against the City of Layton had they not been dilatory in their conduct. By not extending the Berry ruling to the Jackson facts, the Court understood that its ruling effectively denied the Plaintiffs any remedy against any party, specifically the City of Layton which was both the designer/builder and owner-in-possession.

In the instant case, the Appellant's Cross-Claim alleges that he is entitled to pursue an action against the Respondents for indemnification for any of the Plaintiff's injuries for which the Appellant may be assessed. However, neither in his Cross-Claim nor in his Appellant's Brief, does the Appellant argue that the facts of this case are legally equivalent to the products liability claim brought by the Plaintiffs in Berry. Moreover, the Appellant did not plead his case against the Respondents based upon negligent design, but only plead an indemnification theory.

In the present case, the Plaintiff can maintain her action against the Appellant for damages; therefore, the Plaintiff has a significant remedy which she is presently pursuing. In fact, the Plaintiff's ability to pursue the Appellant exists independently of whether or not the Appellant can sue the Respondents. Merely because the Plaintiff is able to pursue her claim against the Plaintiff, it does not follow that the Appellant is legally entitled to maintain his action against the Respondents.

The Appellant is not entitled to assume the legal status and position of the Plaintiff by arguing that legal standards that enable

the Plaintiff to sue the Appellant entitle the Appellant, as owner of the premises, to bring an action against the Respondents. Therefore, the Appellant is not entitled to raise the arguments that the Plaintiffs raised in Berry. By parity of reasoning, the Appellant is not entitled to apply the Berry ruling to these facts of this case simply because that the Architects' Statute of Repose provides the Plaintiff with a remedy.

C. THE ARCHITECTS' STATUTE OF RESPOSE DOES NOT ARBITRARILY DEPRIVE A PLAINTIFF OF ALL REMEDIES.

The Appellant has argued that if the Respondents are dismissed from this suit, a fundamental offense to commonly held notions of justice and fairness would occur by placing the "...defendant land-owner in an untenable and inequitable legal quagmire." Appellants' Brief, p. 8. The Appellant, as Co-Defendant, wishes to convince this Court that he is in the same position as the Plaintiffs were in Berry.

In part, Berry turned on whether the Plaintiffs were arbitrarily deprived of a remedy, not whether the Defendant was deprived of a claim for indemnification. In his Brief, the Appellant, rather than discussing the factual similarities between Berry and the case at hand, merely treats this Court to a cursory restatement of the general principles of equitable law.

In Berry, this Court observed that a statute of repose will meet the test of Article 1, Section 11 of the Utah Constitution "if the law provides an injured person an effective and reasonable alternative remedy 'by due course of law' for vindication of his constitutional interests." Berry at 680; See Also Addendum. The Berry Court went on

to declare that the substituted remedy must be substantially equal in value to the remedy abrogated and must equivalently protect a party's physical integrity, property or reputation "although the form of the remedy may be different." Id.

The provisions of the Architects' Statute of Repose do not deprive a plaintiff of a remedy to redress a personal injury which arose on the site of a real property improvement. The Architects' Statute of Repose only prohibits a suit against an architect or builder (but not an owner) more than seven years following the Date of Substantial Completion. Unlike the Product Liability Statute of Repose, and the Berry case upon which the Appellant mistakenly rests his arguments, the Architects' Statute of Repose does not act as a bar to all efforts of a plaintiff to recover for an injury, real or imagined.

The Architects' Statute of Repose only limits its protection to those entities or persons who actually design or perform the construction work regarding the improvement to real property, and not to others. The provisions of the Architects' Statute of Repose do not arbitrarily deprive a plaintiff from pursuing the owner-in-possession once the architect is insulated from a lawsuit by operation of the Architects' Statute of Repose.

Since the Appellant, as owner-in-possession, has a continuing common law and statutory duty to maintain the safe condition of his property, he is obliged to meet those legal obligations to the Plaintiff. Those obligations exist even if the Respondents had never been named in the suit. At this point in time, only the Appellant is prevented from pursuing the Respondents whose services were rendered

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